Deciphering the Lobbying Occupation: A Description on How to Improve the Professionalism of Lobbying and the Identification of the Trade Practices of Texas Lobbyists.

by

Richard Couder

An Applied Research Project
(Political Science 5397)
Submitted to the Department of Political Science
Texas State University
In Partial Fulfillment for the Requirements for the Degree of
Masters of Public Administration
Summer 2008

Faculty Approval:		
Dr. Patricia M. Shields		
Dr. Howard R. Balanoff		
Mr. Jeffrey Lund, MPA		

Abstract

The purpose of this research is twofold. The first purpose of this project is to examine the occupation of lobbying and identify ways it can be improved through greater professionalism and stronger ethical standards. Second, three lobbyist trade practices are identified and their importance and effectiveness are examined. To further expand on this research, the perceptions of Texas lobbyists about ways to improve the lobbying profession and the importance of certain trade practices are solicited. This research used phone surveys conducted with thirty-five randomly selected registered Texas lobbyists. Participants were asked a series of sixteen questions ranging from ways to improve the lobbying profession to the importance of certain trade practices. The survey found that 100 % of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that acting in a professional manner aids their ability to be successful as a lobbyist. Another 74.3% of lobbyists also agreed or strongly agreed that there was a need to increase the professionalism of the lobbying occupation. Of the lobbyists surveyed, 82.9% agreed or strongly agreed that a formal education or training program for lobbyists would improve the professionalism of the occupation. Finally, 100% of all the respondents strongly agreed that maintaining personal ethical standards and utilizing legislative networking aided their ability to succeed as lobbyists.

About the Author

Richard Couder is a master's of public administration student at Texas State

University. Mr. Couder completed his undergraduate studies at St. Edward's University,
graduating summa cum laude with a bachelor's degree in liberal arts while majoring in
political science. He currently works as a teacher for the El Paso Independent School

District. Mr. Couder strives to one day work as a lobbyist for an education organization.

This paper is dedicated to Richard Sr. and Zelma Couder for their continued support and
understanding throughout the author's life. Mr. Couder may be contacted by e-mail at
richardc1232@gmail.com.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
About the Author	ii
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
Introduction to Lobbying	1
Definitions	2
Research Purpose	3
Chapter Summary	4
Chapter 2 Literature Review	7
Chapter Purpose	7
Improving Professionalism in Lobbying	7
What is a Profession.	7
Need for Professionalism in Lobbying	9
Registration of Lobbyists	10
Formal Education Programs	13
Ethical Standards	13
Trade Practices	17
Legislative Gifts or Favors.	17
Campaign Contributions	19
Legislative Networking	21
Previous Lobbying Experience	21
Providing Accurate Information.	23

Legislative Contacts and Access	24
Conceptual Framework	26
Chapter Summary	28
Chapter 3 Methodology	30
Chapter Purpose	30
Research Technique	30
Sample	33
Human Subjects Protection	34
Chapter Summary	35
Chapter 4 Results	36
Chapter Purpose	36
Improving Professionalism Questions	36
Trade Practices Questions.	40
Chapter 5 Conclusion	43
Chapter Purpose	43
Summary of Survey Results	43
Suggestions for Future Research	47
Conclusion	48
References	50
Appendix A	53
List of Tables	
Table 2.1. Conceptual Framework and Descriptive Categories of Lobbying	28
Table 3.1. Operationalization of the Conceptual Framework	33

Table 4.1: Texas Lobbyists' Attitude toward Professionalism Issues	39
Table 5.1. Texas Lobbyists' Attitude toward the Importance of Certain Trade Practices	42

Chapter 1. Introduction

Introduction to Lobbying

As of 2006, there were 30,000 registered federal lobbyists in the country, more than twice as many as there were in 2000 (Birnbaum 2006, B01). Not only has the number of registered lobbyists doubled, but so has the amount spent on federal lobbying. The *Washington Post* reports that in 2005, about \$200.2 million per month was spent on federal lobbying, which is a considerable increase from the \$116.3 million that was spent monthly in 1999 (Birnbaum 2006). Overall, the total money spent on lobbyists on both the state and federal level for the first six months of 2005 reached a record high of \$1.16 billion (Wegner 2006).

As a result of the growing spending on lobbyists, lobbying firms are continuing to increase profits each year. The Center for Responsive Politics reports that in 2002 the top ten lobbying firms reported a combined income of \$200 million (Cray 2006, 11). This figure is a major increase from 1989, when the combined profits for the top ten lobbying firms totaled less than \$2 million (Cray 2006). These numbers indicate that the use of lobbyists to influence policy by organized interests is rapidly growing. The influence of lobbyists on the policy development process is increasing each year, yet few people are able to identify the personal qualities and trade practices that are needed to succeed as a lobbyist.

Definitions

Before delving deeper into the qualities and trade practices of successful lobbyists, it is necessary to define some key terms. McGrath (2005, 125) defines a *lobbyist* as:

A person designated by an interest group to facilitate influencing public policy in that group's favor by performing one or more of the following for the group: (1) directly contacting public officials; (2) monitoring political and governmental activity; (3) advising on political strategies and tactics; and (4) developing and orchestrating the group's lobbying effort.

Bobo (2006, 34) expands on the definition of a lobbyist further, and argues that "lobbyists are advocates of a point of view and one that might not be heard were it not for the role lobbyists play." While the definition of a lobbyist is rather simple, Nownes (2006) notes that the word *lobbying* is a broad term that is difficult to simplify because it encompasses various activities and actions. Browne (1985, 466) defines *lobbying* in broad terms as "the activity of group representatives in attempting influence."

Beyond the defining what a lobbyist is and what lobbying entails, it is necessary to establish the parameters of what makes a lobbyist successful. McGrath (2006, 77) argues that an effective lobbyist should possess the same characteristics as a good salesperson. "Government relations is, in a sense, a specialized form of marketing. The same qualities required to be successful in sales are needed in a successful lobbyist: cordiality and charm, persistence, understanding of the product (i.e. the position the "issue salesperson" is advocating), and the persuasiveness needed to make the "purchaser" (the public policy-maker) want to buy the "product" (McGrath 2006, 77).

The final term of importance that must be defined is *organized interest*. An organized interest as defined by Nownes (2006, 6), is "an organization that engages in

political activity—that is, activity designed to affect what the government does." The need for this definition arises from the fact that all lobbyists essentially work for some type of organized interest. However, Nownes (2006) argues that the term *interest group* is not an accurate description of the entity that employs the lobbyist. Nownes (2006) notes that interest groups are limited to voluntary member-based groups, whereas the majority of politically active organizations are non-membership organizations that include business firms, think tanks, and universities and colleges. As a result, the term *organized interest* is better suited for describing the types of organizations that hire lobbyists.

In the state of Texas there is a large number of lobbyists who represent a variety of interests. The Texas Ethics Commission reports that as of 2007, there were 1,780 registered lobbyists in Texas. Those lobbyists registered with the state represent almost 2,200 different organized interests. The three subject categories most represented by lobbyists in Texas, according to the Texas Ethics Commission, are business and commerce; taxation; and state agencies, boards; or commissions.

Research Purpose

The first purpose of this study is to describe examine the occupation of lobbying and identify ways it could be improved through greater professionalism and stronger ethical standards. The research examined the characteristics of the profession and identified why lobbying needs to improve the level of its professionalism. Three suggestions were formulated for elevating lobbying to a higher professional standard: better lobbyist registration systems, formal education or training for lobbyists, and uniform ethical standards for lobbyists.

The second purpose of this research was to examine three trade practices of lobbyists: providing gifts or favors to legislators, making campaign contributions to legislators, and the practice of legislative networking. The paper also describes the effect of each of these practices on the ability of lobbyists to succeed at influencing policy development.

The third purpose of this research was to ascertain the opinions of Texas lobbyists concerning whether and how the lobbying profession might be improved. The author also examined how often Texas lobbyists use the aforementioned trade practices, and how important those practices are in aiding the lobbyists to succeed at their jobs.

The information gathered from the literature and the survey results are useful to public administrators because a connection between lobbying and public administration exists. The work of lobbyists directly impacts the agencies that administrators work for in terms of funding, scope of powers for an agency; and regulations that agencies must follow. Furthermore, understanding the workings of lobbyists is useful knowledge for people that study public administration because they may find successful careers in lobbying.

Chapters Summary

Chapter one serves as an introduction to the lobbying profession. The chapter describes how the use of lobbyists, and the money spent on lobbying, continue to increase nationally. Furthermore, key terms associated with lobbying were defined and a short background on Texas lobbying was provided. Finally, the purpose of this research was identified and discussed.

Chapter two uses scholarly literature to describe and discuss two categories: the professionalism of lobbying and three trade practices used by lobbyists. The chapter first compares lobbying to other professions and identifies ways that lobbying fails to meet the criteria of a profession. Second, through the use of scholarly literature, three recommendations for improving the professionalism of lobbying are outlined. Third, the literature describes three trade practices that lobbyists use in order to succeed in influencing policy development. Each trade practice is defined and the importance of each task in helping a lobbyist be successful is also discussed. Finally, chapter two provides the conceptual framework table that is the basis for this applied research project.

Chapter three is the methodology chapter that discusses the research techniques utilized in this paper. First, the chapter outlines the advantages and disadvantages of telephones surveys as a research technique. Second, the telephone survey questions asked to Texas lobbyists are outlined in the Operationalization of the Conceptual Framework table. Third, the chapter describes and discusses how the sample used for this research was obtained.

Chapter four provides the results of the phone survey conducted with thirty-five Texas lobbyists. The results are presented using descriptive statistics and are broken down into two types of questions: improving professionalism questions and trade practices questions. Tables 4.1 and 4.2 summarize the results of each question asked by providing the percentage of respondents who either agreed or strongly agreed with the question asked as well as what the mode response was to each question.

Chapter five is the conclusion chapter that discusses the findings from the research and summarizes the opinions of the Texas lobbyists surveyed. The conclusion chapter also offers recommendations for future studies on this research topic.

Chapter 2. Literature Review

Chapter Purpose

The purpose of this chapter is to use the scholarly literature to illustrate ways of improving the professionalism of lobbying. The research also identified three trade practices of lobbyists and determined their importance in aiding the lobbyists to succeed. In addition, the literature is used to develop the conceptual framework that is the basis of the questionnaire used to gauge what methods Texas lobbyists feel could best improve the professionalism of lobbying, how widely used these three trade practices are and what impact these practices have on the ability of a lobbyist to succeed.

Improving Professionalism in Lobbying

This section describes the role professionalism¹ plays in the success of lobbyists. First, this section defines the characteristics that are common to all professions. This section also examines why there is a need for successful lobbyists to act professionally. Third, this section also demonstrates that the lobbying occupation, as it currently stands, does not meet the requirements of a profession. Lastly, the steps that can be taken to make lobbying an accepted profession are discussed.

What is a Profession?

According to Cruess (1997, 1675), the *Oxford English Dictionary* defines a profession as:

the occupation which one professes to be skilled in and to follow (a) a vocation in which a professed knowledge of some department of learning or science is used in its application to the affairs of others, or in the practice of an art found upon it. (b)

¹ For additional professionalism-related information contained in Texas State University Applied Research Projects, see the papers by Este (2007) and Gonzales (2005)

in a wider sense: any calling or occupation by which a person habitually earns his living.

Gardner and Shulman (2005, 14) expand on the definition of a profession by listing six characteristics that are common to all professions:

- A commitment to serve in the interests of clients in particular and welfare of society in general.
- 2. A body of theory or special knowledge with its own principles of growth and reorganization.
- 3. A specialized set of professional skills, practices, and performances unique to the profession.
- 4. The developed capacity to render judgments with integrity under conditions of both technical and ethical uncertainty.
- An organized approach to learning from experience both individually and collectively and thus, of growing new knowledge from the contexts of practice.
- The development of a professional community responsible for the oversight and monitoring of quality in both practice and professional education.

McGrath asserts that the occupation of lobbying has failed to adhere to the common elements of all professions. The author states that, "lobbying is now a well-established occupation, but it falls far short of having attained professional status" (McGrath 2005, 124).

Aside from the common characteristics of all professions, Gardner and Shulman (2005, 14) believe that the major feature of any profession is a "commitment to serve

responsibly, selflessly, and wisely set the terms of the compact between the profession and the society." Expanding on Gardner's and Shulman's belief, Cruess (1997) asserts that a commitment between professional status and obligations to society must be satisfied in order to maintain the public trust. The author states that such obligations include being guided by an accepted code of ethics, following applicable federal and state laws, and a commitment to effective and transparent self-regulation (Cruess 1997).

Need for Professionalism in Lobbying

"The success of lobbyists depends on their ability to act as a communication link between the government and the group's membership" (Ainsworth & Sened 1993, 834). In order to create this communication link, Ainsworth asserts that lobbyists must be able to develop a sense of trust from both sides. Maintaining that sense of trust is more difficult today because the popular public view of lobbyists is negative. Nownes (2006, 33) reports that people tend to view lobbyists as "meretricious 'hired guns' who jettison their principles, sell themselves to the highest bidder, and then 'carry water' for the well-heeled organized interests that hire them." Berry (1993, 344) expands on this negative perception of lobbyists by stating that they have been characterized as "secretive peddlers of influence, and a source of corruption." Another major criticism of lobbyists is that they buy access and influence for rich private clients at the cost of more "worthy" public causes and organized interests (Berry 1993, 344).

Encouraging the public to regard lobbying as a profession could go a long way toward combating the present negative perceptions. A professional image would lead to "trust by the client or employer in the competence of someone calling themselves a lobbyist, and trust by society that lobbying is a legitimate activity in a democratic

society" (McGrath 2005, 126). In fact, a lobbyist's public perception alone can make a difference in their ability to succeed.

Lobbyists are likely to be more effective if those they seek to influence like them as individuals (e.g. they are well-spoken, have a sense of humor, are well informed and highly credible, are able to be empathetic, and are well-mannered). The messenger can, by his or her personal characteristics and behavior, obtain a fair hearing for a message that may be unpalatable" (McGrath 2006, 68).

The literature indicates that acting in a professional manner is one of the personal qualities that lead to success in lobbying. A possible reason that a lack of credibility and a negative perception continue to surround lobbyists may be the absence of established concrete professional standards similar to those that are common among in other occupations (e.g. lawyers and doctors). A quick overview of the lobbying occupation shows that lobbying fails to meet several of the common characteristics of a profession. The literature offers two recommendations to elevate the occupation of lobbying to a profession: implementation of lobbyist registration, and the creation of formal education programs.

Registration of Lobbyists

Federal and state laws require that lobbyists who work for corporations or organizations must register their names and subjects of interest with the government, and report how much money they spent on lobbying activities (Glazer 1989). While these requirements might seem to provide the lobbying occupation with a degree of professionalism, there are legal loopholes. The registration law only requires individuals whose "primary job is contact with Congress" to register as lobbyists (Glazer 1989, 2). Loopholes in the law allow individuals, such as lawyers who may occasionally engage in lobbying, to avoid the required government registration. This loophole creates a vast

problem and contributes to a lack of trust because the activities of many thousands of individuals who lobby Congress are not monitored or recorded. In 1989 Howard Marlowe, president of the American League of Lobbyists, reported that "there are more than 47,000 lawyers, 11,500 public affairs professionals and numerous consultants in Washington, many of whom do what is commonly thought of as lobbying. Yet only about 6,000 register as lobbyists with Congress each year" (Glazer 1989, 2).

On the state level, each state has its own registration laws; these vary from extremely rigorous guidelines to moderately loose requirements. For example, in Arizona, lobbyist registration laws require "virtually everyone in an organization who might wish at some time to engage in lobbying to officially register" (Hunter, Wilson & Brunk 1991, 490). In other states, such as California and Illinois, churches and nonprofit organizations that lobby Congress are exempt from any registration requirement (Hunter et al. 1991). The main problem with state registration laws is that:

Most states do not have a general statute that precisely specifies which groups must register and which groups are exempt from registration. As a result, some groups that would not appear to need to register their lobbyists in fact do register them, while some that would be expected to register do not bother to do so (Hunter et al. 1991, 490-491).

While most states continue to struggle with creating effective registration laws, the state of Wisconsin in 2002 enacted a new lobbying tracking system, Eye on Lobbying, that has garnered the support of legislators, lobbyists, and the public (Judd 2003). Eye on Lobbying is a system that allows anyone who has access to the Internet to discover the "legislative agenda of every organization that employs a lobbyist and, for

any legislative proposal, who is trying to influence it" (Judd 2003, 38). This system works because Wisconsin law now requires that every business or organization that tries to influence any bill identify what interest it has in the bill to the Ethics Board within two weeks after a lobbyist's first communication with a legislator or legislator's staff (Judd 2003, 38). Beyond providing a greater sense of transparency when it comes to legislative lobbying, Eye on Lobbying is useful to organized interests by easily identifying legislative proposals that their competitors or like-minded organizations are trying to influence, thus making it easier for organizations to decide whether to support or oppose legislation (Judd 2003). The implementation of effective registration laws for lobbyists, such as the Wisconsin law, can be a move toward improving the public perception of lobbyists.

Standardization of registration laws for all individuals who engage in lobbying Congress would be another step toward professionalism and earning the public's trust. McGrath (2005, 126) notes that fostering a sense of trust with society is difficult because lobbyists promote private interests, but it can be achieved if lobbyists "are more prepared to talk directly to the public about the legitimate role of lobbying in ensuring that interests are articulated." A formal registration process such as the one in Wisconsin, which made public the interests and spending of lobbyists who approach Congress, is one way to build the public's trust. Moreover, introduction of a standardized registration law for all of the nation's lobbyists would garner a lot of support. This assumption derives from observing that many organizations, including the American Society of Public Administration, the Council on Governmental Ethics, and the Council of State Governments, all praised Wisconsin's Eye on Lobbying program (Judd 2003).

Formal Education Programs

Another issue that prevents lobbyists from achieving professional status is the lack of required formal education or professional training. While universities across the country offer programs (e.g., public administration or public affairs) that may occasionally discuss the role of lobbying in policy, no formal educational training exists for individuals interested in the occupation of lobbying. As a result, McGrath (2005) argues, it is difficult to know what tools or techniques are needed to be a successful lobbyist. In addition, there are no professional publications dedicated solely to lobbying, and no agreed-upon qualifications for a lobbyist (McGrath 2005).

This lack of formal education or training hurts the professionalism of lobbying.

As McGrath (2006) argues, individual lobbyists working within any political system need specific professional skills and knowledge related to that system in order to succeed.

McGrath further asserts that the need for lobbyists to be effective is important,

not just only for themselves but also for their clients or employers; indeed, it could be argued that it is important for democracy or society that those who seek to influence the public policy making process do so professionally in order that the companies and organizations they represent are heard as clearly as possible by policy makers (McGrath 2006, 69).

Ethical Standards

Unlike doctors, lawyers, and other professionals, lobbyists have no universal professional code of ethics² that regulates the actions of members of the occupation. As a result, McGrath (2005, 130) sees a major dilemma:

13

_

² For additional ethics-related information contained in Texas State University Applied Research Projects, see the papers by Aleman (2004), Eivens (2000), and Thornton (2000).

Not only can anyone practice as a lobbyist without adhering to any code of conduct, but even if they do choose to subscribe to such a code and subsequently are found to have acted contrary to its provisions, they may be required to leave the relevant representative body, but can still continue to practice.

McGrath's point is that, unlike doctors and lawyers who may have their license to practice revoked for unethical practices, lobbyists have no license to lose. But something greater may be at stake. Hamilton and Hoch (1997, 119) assert that society is the entity that grants organized interests their legitimacy and power, and those who use it irresponsibly tend to lose it. Therefore organized interests that seek to influence public policy must do so in an ethical and legitimate way. Otherwise, society may one day deny these organizations the ability to influence the legislative process (Hamilton & Hoch 1997, 119).

The need for the implementation of uniform ethical standards in lobbying goes beyond helping lobbyists succeed at their job. They are crucial to the efficient functioning of a democratic government. When ethical concerns are ignored, "contestants in the influence game see winning as the ultimate validation of tactics, with little concern paid to the damage these tactics may do to democratic institutions and ultimately to society" (Hamilton & Hoch 1997, 122). Hamilton & Hoch go on to argue that democracy works best when participants are restrained by ethical concerns for other members and for the viability of the interests for which they contend (Hamilton & Hoch 1997).

When ethical concerns are ignored by lobbyists, there is a potential for corruption of our system of government. An example of the harm that can result is the Jack Abramoff case, in which former House of Representatives members Bob Ney and Randy

Cunningham were sent to prison for their role in the fraud and corruption cases (Stone, Vaida, Kosterlitz, & Carney 2008). This need to ensure the ethical actions of lobbyists in order to avoid government corruption also goes beyond Congress. Stone et al., (2008, 12) reports that the leading sources of financial contributions to the McCain and Clinton presidential campaigns were the law and lobbying firms of Blank Rome and DLA Piper. While Senator Obama has refused financial contributions from lobbyists, he does have lobbyists serving as policy advisors for his campaign (Stone et al., 2008).

Texas also faces the possibility of government corruption by lobbyists. Former Congressman Tom DeLay was forced to resign as a result of his unethical dealings with lobbyists. Such scandals have, with good reason, presented lobbyists to the public in a negative light. Cray (2006, 10) sums up the opinions of many concerning lobbyists when he argues that examples such as those above are "fueling the public perception that Washington's 'culture of corruption' is out of control."

While there are certainly a number of corrupt lobbyists who have given the occupation a black eye, there are lobbyists who believe professional integrity and honesty are integral part of their jobs. McGrath (2006), after conducting a survey on the personal qualities of a successful lobbyist with sixty lobbyists from Washington, London, and Brussels, asserted that in order to be successful a lobbyist must maintain personal credibility and integrity. This approach goes beyond adhering to a code of conduct. Rather, an individual lobbyist must maintain a set of personal values in order to ensure that he or she would not engage in any lobbying activities with which they were not comfortable (McGrath 2006).

Lobbyists' adherence to personal ethical standards leads to a sense of credibility among legislators and the public. Through establishing a reputation for being knowledgeable about relevant policy issues, being reliable and honest when providing information and opinion to policymakers, and maintaining consistency over time, lobbyists are able to earn credibility that is key to their success (McGrath 2006). Bryce Harlowe, one of the most senior lobbyists in Washington, summed up the importance of ethical standards in lobbying by stating that, "The coin of lobbying, as of politics, is trust. One's word is one's bond. Habitual truth-telling and square dealing are of paramount importance in this profession" (as cited in McGrath 2006, 76). Being trustworthy is important because a lobbyist's success in influencing policy rests partly on their ability to have public officials frequently seek out their advice. As a result, the task of providing accurate and useful information to legislators is crucial (Nownes 1999).

Since there is a need for lobbyists to act ethically not only for their own professional success, but also for the good of democracy, Hamilton & Hoch (1997, 122) offers the following eight ethical standards that could be applied as a professional code of conduct for lobbyists:

- 1. Maximize good and minimize harm for those affected.
- 2. Do not make exceptions for yourself. What you consider unethical behavior by others should be unethical behavior for you, too.
- 3. Let others make their own choices.
- 4. Use the publicity test. Before engaging in an activity, consider the reaction if that activity became public knowledge.
- 5. Respect human rights.

- 6. Insure a fair distribution of benefits and burdens.
- 7. Honor the social contract. Do the lobbying actions taken fit within the conditions necessary to preserve society for the good of all?
- 8. Act in accordance with your character and the company's reputation.

While such a strict standardized code of conduct for lobbyists might seem daunting, McGrath (2006) writes that most lobbyists believe strongly in the importance of ethical standards. The author quotes a senior Washington consultant as saying, "There is a pretty high standard of ethical behavior by lobbyists, and I think that is important. For the most part, people behave in a very clearly ethical manner; if they do not they will very quickly lose all credibility and access" (McGrath 2006, 76). Expanding on the importance of honesty and ethics in lobbying, Nownes (2006, 34) reports that "studies of both lobbyists and public officials show that honesty and credibility are absolutely essential to successful lobbying."

Trade Practices

This section of the literature focuses on three important trade practices of lobbyists. First, this section examines the lobbyist trade practice of providing legislative gifts and favors as well as the ethical questions that can arise from this activity. Second, the section discusses how making campaign contributions can be a successful trade practice. Finally, the trade practice of networking and its importance is discussed.

Legislative Gifts or Favors

The Jack Abramoff case is a famous scandal that has focused the spotlight on lobbyists who use gifts and favors as a trade practice for persuading legislators to support the position of the organized interest they represent. Anthony Nownes (2006, 17) reports

that in Washington and elsewhere lobbyists and the organized interests they represent have been known to provide "gifts and favors considered desirable yet negligible in value, such as catered foods, flowers, candy, free baby-sitting, rides to work, tickets to athletic events, and discounted rides on corporate jets." Lawrence Jacobs, a University of Minnesota political scientist, asserts that some lobbyists feel having the funds to provide lavish gifts is essential to their success because evidence shows that organized interests that are wealthy or well established tend to receive the most attention from legislators (as cited in Katel 2005).

While some have concerns with the use of gifts and favors as a trade practice of lobbyists, there are many lobbyists who do not see using such tactics as an important aspect of their work. Nownes and Freeman (1998, 91) reviewed the results of a 1996 survey in which 595 responses were received from lobbyists in three states (California, South Carolina, and Wisconsin). One of the least common techniques reportedly used to create influence was providing favors for public officials. In fact, the survey results indicated that state lobbyists partake in far less "political schmoozing" than federal lobbyists (Nownes & Freeman 1998, 93). *Political schmoozing* was defined in the survey as "informal contacts with officials, and/or doing favors for officials who need assistance" (Nownes & Freeman 1998, 93). Though Nownes and Freeman (1998) assert that the trade practice of providing gifts and favors to legislators is not employed by most lobbyists, it is used by some, and thus has the potential to create an unfair advantage for some organized interests.

The problem with the trade practice of providing gifts and favors for legislators is that such tactics favor wealthier organized interests (such as businesses) over smaller

public interest groups. According to the Center for Responsive Politics, "The problem arises when lobbyists' influence is disconnected from the merits of their clients' positions, but rather is connected to the wealth of their clients, in terms of how much they can fly members around, spend on golf and otherwise help members" (as cited in Katel 2005, 5). In order to combat this unfair advantage, steps have been taken at the federal level to severely limit the trade practice of providing legislators with gifts and favors. In 2007, as part of the Honest Leadership and Open Government Act, lobbyists were banned from buying meals, gifts, trips, and other activities for legislators and their staff (Stone et al., 2008, 12). While the law was designed to reduce the potential for corruption of legislators by lobbyists, there has been an unanticipated result. Stone et al., (2008, 12) states that "the unintended effect is that more lobbyists are using a key exception in the ethics rules and catching members and aides where none of the restrictions of food, drink, entertainment and travel apply: campaign fundraisers."

Campaign Contributions

While there are lobbyists who believe that providing gifts and favors is not essential to their success, some lobbyists believe that the trade practice of making political campaign contributions³ is essential to achieving their legislative goals. Thomas Downey, founder of the Washington lobbying firm Downey McGrath Group, states that, "About one-third of my day is spent raising money from my clients to give to people I lobby" (as cited in Katel 2005, 4). Downey is not alone; as Katel (2005, 4) reports, "In the 2004 presidential election cycle, individual lobbyists and lobbying firms contributed a total of \$26.6 million to campaigns of both major candidates, according to the Center for

-

³ For additional campaign contributions-related information contained in Texas State University Applied Research Projects, see the paper by Woodard (2005).

Responsive Politics." Paul Miller, president of the American League of Lobbyists, defends the trade practice of making campaign contributions by stating that, "The alternative to not having people elected who support your agenda is someone getting elected who does not support your agenda. A contribution at best may give me a few extra minutes to talk about my issue, but that's not a bad thing" (as cited in Katel 2005, 8).

The 2002 Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act is a main reason why the number of lobbyists who make campaign contributions has increased. Under this law, *soft money*—money not donated directly to a candidate's campaign, but to a political party—was outlawed. The total amount of money that an individual could contribute to parties or candidates during a two-year election cycle was nearly doubled from \$50,000 to \$95,000 (Katel 2005). The new campaign reform laws have put pressure on individual lobbyists to use their own money to make campain contributions. This trade practice has become more common in order to make up for the loss of soft money that organized interests had traditionally provided political parties (Katel 2005).

While campaign contributions are common for many lobbyists, it is difficult to pinpoint exactly what these donations buy (Nownes 2006). One reason for the difficulty is that there is no general consensus on whether campaign money can buy legislative votes (Nownes 2006). Some literature, such as Douglas Roscoe's research on 30 studies and 350 tests that dealt with campaign contributions and voting, found that campaign contributions did have an impact on legislative votes (as cited in Woodard 2005). Yet other studies, such as the one conducted by Gordon that evaluated votes on 102 bills in the California Senate Governmental Organization Committee, found a different

connection between campaign contributions and voting patterns. Gordon's study found "that campaign contributions given by groups in support of a bill do not influence voting behavior, but money given by groups in opposition to a bill does" (as cited in Woodard 2005, 34). While there is no consensus on the impact of campaign contributions, Nownes (2006, 80) argues that "monetary contributions can buy contributors access—the ability to see and to speak with government decision makers." Lastly, Nownes (2006, 80) notes that donations often lead to legislators making more of an effort to "push harder for a specific proposal or put in a good word for a donor." While contributions may not always lead to votes, the practice may create name recognition and access to a legislator, both of which are crucial to the success of a lobbyist (Nownes 2006).

Legislative Networking

This sections looks at the use of legislative networking as a vital trade practice that is used by successful lobbyists. The ability of lobbyists to act as a communication link between the government and organized interests relies on their networking capabilities. The literature describes three main factors that influence a lobbyist's networking potential. The first factor is past lobbying experience. A second factor is the ability to provide legislators with accurate and useful information on issues in order to advance a lobbyist's approachability. The final factor in a lobbyist's ability to successfully network is legislative connections and access.

Previous Lobbying Experience

Browne (1985) conducted a survey of lobbyists from four states (Florida, Iowa, Michigan, and New Jersey) and found that among all the necessary qualities for success, experience was seen as the most indispensable. Lobbyists from all four states agreed that

in order to effectively represent a group, experience is essential because it allows lobbyists to obtain a working knowledge of how the state government operates as well as a familiarity with policymakers and the ability to make frequent contacts with them (Browne 1985). Nownes (1999, 119-120), in the previously mentioned survey of 595 lobbyists, found that, "lobbyists with 20 or 30 years experience are several times more likely to report being approached for advice than their less-experienced counterparts." Nownes (1999) asserts that two main reasons explain why experienced lobbyists have more communication with policymakers: (1) experienced lobbyists are seen as more credible, reliable, and connected than those with less experience; and (2) those with more experience are seen as having greater expertise.

Many of today's lobbyists had previous government or political positions.

Salisbury et al., (1989) conducted a survey of 776 Washington lobbyists, and found that 55% of the people in the sample had held some kind of government position before becoming a lobbyist. However, when Salisbury et al., (1989, 179) surveyed organized interests and asked them to rank fourteen possible reasons for hiring one lobbyist over another, legislative experience was ranked below experience in the industry to be represented. Furthermore, of the lobbyists with previous government experience who were surveyed, the majority with experience in any agency besides the legislative and executive branch "were more likely to say that government experience was not helpful in any way" (Salisbury et al., 1989, 182). Hence, while being an experienced lobbyist with several years on the job is seen as a crucial quality needed for success, previous government experience is not as important.

Providing Accurate Information

Lobbyists are second only to constituents as a source of information for legislators, and often play an important role in determining the legislation that members initiate and what policy positions they take (Nownes 1999). Therefore, a lobbyist's ability to succeed relies on maintaining the trust of legislators by providing useful and accurate information. Validating the importance of accurate information, Salisbury et al., (1989, 177) found that knowledge of the subject matter to be presented was deemed the most important factor when recruiting lobbyists according to a survey of several organized interests. Bobo (2006, 34) explains that lobbyists are an important source of information because "lawmakers are called upon to make decisions on esoteric issues well beyond their own or their staff's understanding." The author further notes that lobbyists are advocates for one point of view, and that without them an important perspective might not be properly represented. Bobo (2006) views the information that lobbyists provide as educational knowledge for legislators who, after hearing all the sides of an issue, will be better able to make informed decisions.

The possible negative consequences of lobbyist connections to legislators have been well documented in the media and by other researchers. However, Ainsworth and Sened (1993, 858) offer a different and positive perspective on lobbyists: the authors believe that lobbyists are "individuals providing informational gains to two distinct audiences: government officials and group members." Legislators depend on the information provided by lobbyists because without such guidance they may provide public goods whose benefits do not meet the cost of implementation, or they may fail to provide a public good that could benefit both citizens and the government in excess of the

costs of implementation (Ainsworth & Sened 1993). Organized interests also have an important need for the information that lobbyists provide because such information helps a group to become coordinated and focused on issues. Lobbyists can also help inform groups that have too few beneficiaries that they may want to "save themselves the cost and trouble of petitioning for a lost cause" (Ainsworth & Sened 1993, 859). With so many individuals depending on the information that lobbyists provide, the quality and accuracy of that assistance is crucial to their success.

Legislative Access and Contacts

The ability of lobbyists to have access to and contacts with legislators is, for most scholars, a crucial component of their ability to successfully influence policy development. Nownes (2006, 17) explains the importance of access to legislators: "Personal meetings give lobbyists a chance to present relevant information directly to the decision makers." Meetings with legislators allow lobbyists to work with lawmakers in formulating strategies to ensure the success or failure of a bill, and can lead to both sides working together to draft or revise a bill (Nownes 2006). Furthermore, personal meetings with legislators allow lobbyists to provide information that makes their side look good and often information that makes the other side look poorly (Nownes 2006). Moreover, personal meetings and contacts with legislators are extremely effective technique because they create "deep-seated impressions." These impressions are important because when policymakers want information, they are far more likely to contact lobbyists who they have met and have a working relationship with (Nownes 2006,).

The need for lobbyists to have established contacts with legislators may explain why so many Congressmen who retire are sought after by lobbying firms. Firms have

such a high demand for former congressional officials that many are willing to pay up to \$300,000 per year for their lobbying services (Birnbaum 2006). The number of former legislators who have become lobbyists has vastly increased since the 1970s (Katel 2005). A national watchdog group known as Public Citizen reports that in 2005 about 32% of former lawmakers became lobbyists, a drastic increase from the 3% who took up lobbying in the 1970s (Katel 2005).

The large number of former Congressman who are now lobbyists has led to the creation of the "good ol' boy" theory, which claims that "lobbying success depends heavily upon contacts with officials, knowing them personally, and maintaining warm personal relations with them, so that when they are asked to do things of benefit for the lobbyist's client's organization, they will be disposed to respond favorably" (Salisbury et al., 1989, 176). Since former Congressmen who become lobbyists already have a relationship with members of Congress, they can more easily establish a rapport with legislators. Their former colleagues will also tend to be more sympathetic to their position (Birnbaum 2006). Furthermore, Birnbaum (2006, 3) argues, "Why would congressional aides and lawmakers want to anger the lobbyists who approach them when they aspire to become lobbyists themselves?"

Browne (1985) discusses a completely different theory on legislative access and contacts. He asserts that,

The importance that lobbyists attribute to access and its necessity in some personal arrangements where policy deliberations take place are inadequate proof that all or even most lobbyists seek eventually to represent their interests in this way" (Browne 1985, 451).

The author argues that the patterns of interaction and the need for access to policymakers depends on how lobbyists view their relationship with legislators. Browne (1985) believes that lobbyists can see themselves in one of three ways: (1) as *policymaking partners* who work together with legislators to meet their interests; (2) they can see themselves as *policymaker opponents* who are in a constant battle with the state government and believe their interests are best served by attacking the flaws in government policy; or (3) as *policymaker dependents* "whose ability to lay claim to policy successes on behalf of their members actually are beyond their own control" (Browne 1985, 463). Browne makes an important point because he believes that how lobbyists interact with legislators depends heavily on the political climate of each state. Browne (1985, 464) summarizes his theory by writing that:

The conditions surrounding the transactions between the lobbyist and the lobbied will determine how they interrelate. The result is that the behavior and lobbying styles of interest groups will vary contextually rather than converge toward a single strategically appropriate set of relationships.

Overall, networking with members of Congress is an important trade practice. How effective a lobbyist is at networking hinges on varies factors including how experienced they are as a lobbyist, their ability to provide accurate and useful information to legislators, and their previous legislative connections. How important networking with legislators is to the success of an individual lobbyist depends upon whether they see themselves as a policymaking partner, policymaking opponent, or policymaking dependent in their relationship with members of Congress.

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework of descriptive research utilizes categories. These categories define the purpose of the descriptive research, which is to "understand" a

practical idea (Shields 1998). The conceptual framework serves as a guide for the researcher. Shields and Tajalli (2006, 315) write that,

Because micro-conceptual frameworks are applied to the problem at hand, they guide data collection and interpretation. Thus, these frameworks guide the most practical, mechanical, elements of empirical inquiry.

Furthermore, a conceptual framework functions at two levels.

"One operates on a metalevel. Examples might include public choice theory, systems theory or bureaucratic politics. The second is a more narrowly defined abstract framework that usually fits within meta frameworks. Micro conceptual frameworks connect to the specifics of controlled inquiry (Shields 1998, 208)."

The purpose of this descriptive research is twofold. The first function of this applied research project is to describe ways of improving the professionalism of lobbying. This objective is met through defining what characteristics all professions share and describing why lobbying needs to improve its professionalism. The research identified three suggestions whereby lobbying could adapt to meet the standards of a profession: formal education programs, better lobbyist registration laws, and a universal set of professional ethical standards.

The second part of this research describes three common trade practices utilized by lobbyists to aid their success in influencing policy development. The research looks at the trade practices of providing gifts and favors to legislators, making campaign contributions to legislators, and legislative networking. Table 2.1 summarizes the categories used to describe the reasons why there is a need for greater professionalism in lobbying as well as the factors that contribute to success in lobbying and connects these categories to the literature.

Table 2.1. Conceptual Framework and Descriptive Categories of Lobbying

DESCRIPTIVE CATEGORIES	SUPPORTING LITERATURE
 Improving professionalism What is a profession Need for professionalism in lobbying Registration of lobbyists Educational programs Ethical standards Trade practices Gifts and favors for legislators Campaign contributions for legislators Legislative networking 	Ainsworth & Sened (1993); Berry (1993); Bobo (2006); Cray (2006); Cruess (1997); Gardner & Shulman (2005); Glazer (1989); Hamilton & Hoch (1997); Hunter et al (1991); Judd (2003); Katel (2005); McGrath (2005);McGrath (2006); Nownes & Freeman (1998); Nownes (2006); Stone et al. (2008) Ainsworth and Sened (1993); Birnbaum (2006); Bobo (2006); Browne (1985); Katel (2005); Nownes & Freeman (1998); Nownes (2006); Salisbury et al. (1989); Stone et al. (2008); Woodard (2005)

Chapter Summary

This chapter describes and discusses the need for greater professionalism within the lobbying profession as well as three trade practices that are key to a lobbyist's ability to successfully influence policy. Within the improving professionalism category, the characteristics that are common to all professions were defined. The literature explained why there is a need for greater professionalism within lobbying. The literature also yields three recommendations that can improve the professionalism of lobbying: stricter registration laws, the creation of formal education programs, and a universal set of ethical standards.

In the category of trade practices, the literature describes three methods that lobbyists use in order to succeed in influencing policy development. The trade practices

described include: providing gifts and favors for legislators, making campaign contributions to legislators, and legislative networking. Each trade practice is defined and the importance of each task in helping a lobbyist be successful is also discussed. The next chapter discusses the methodology utilized in this research.

Chapter 3. Methodology

Chapter Purpose

The purpose of this chapter is to describe the research methodology used to ascertain Texas lobbyists' attitudes toward lobbying reforms. This chapter also describes the operationalization of the categories within the conceptual framework through a survey conducted by telephone.

Research Technique

The research technique used in this study was telephone survey. Telephone survey is an effective research technique because it provides fast, reliable data and offers a unique opportunity to control the integrity of the sample as the study progresses (Conklin 1999). Furthermore, the Michigan State Department of Education (as cited in Conklin 1999, 423) asserts that:

Telephone survey approach is to be preferred over the mail survey approach inasmuch as it yields a higher response rate and is the only approach that allows those administering it to clarify its general intent and to elaborate on specific survey items as soon as questions arise.

There are some drawbacks that must be kept in mind when conducting telephone surveys. One drawback is the ever-growing number of individuals who have multiple telephone numbers. As a result, the telephone number used to call the randomly selected participant may not be the best or only means of contacting the individual. This may lead to a large number of unanswered calls. Another potential problem is the unwillingness of individuals to answer telephone calls from unrecognized numbers. This unwillingness may be the result of the large amount of telemarketing that takes place today. A third drawback of telephone surveys is the cost; the expense of long distance calls impacts how many individuals will be called, and thus plays a role in the sample size. A final

drawback of this technique is the inability to obtain a response from the total population.

As a result, bias becomes a concern as only the opinions of a small sample of the population are taken into consideration. In order to curb bias, a pretest of the questions found on the survey was done to identify any unclear or potentially biased questions. The questions were tested on two lobbyists, one for the Texas Classroom Teachers

Association and the other for the Texas Parent Teachers Association.

For this telephone survey research, a questionnaire was created. The survey questions were formulated based on the literature findings and directly correlated to the categories and subcategories within the conceptual framework. In total, sixteen questions were generated and participants were asked to choose the answer that most correlated to their opinion based on a Likert scale. The possible answers on the Likert scale were: strongly disagree, disagree, no opinion, agree, and strongly agree. Potential participants were called using the telephone numbers listed on the Texas Ethics Commission's Web site of registered Texas lobbyists. Before asking the survey, the researcher identified himself as a master's student at Texas State University. Participants were informed that their participation in the telephone survey was completely voluntary, and that all answers would be anonymous. The participants were also told that no individual survey would be singled out when presenting the results of the telephone survey. Finally, participants were told that they may choose to end their participation at any time and their answers would be discarded.

Calls to potential participants were made beginning in late September 2007. When an individual was contacted and chose to participate in the telephone survey, almost all calls lasted less than ten minutes. However, several problems arose with obtaining

responses to the telephone survey. The major problem was either unanswered calls or a telephone number that was not the best means of reaching the individual. The majority of the telephone numbers provided by the Texas Ethics Commission were the office numbers of the registered lobbyists. This became a problem when the lobbyist was not at his/her office, and the vast majority of secretaries or other office personnel refused to provide a cell phone number by which to better contact the lobbyist. Therefore, many potential participants could not be reached. Another problem arose due to the researcher's work schedule and the hour time difference between El Paso (where the researcher resides) and the rest of the state. Making calls and obtaining responses took longer than expected since there were many days when very little time was available during normal business hours to contact possible participants. Overall, the process of obtaining the needed responses lasted until December 2007.

The operationalization between the descriptive categories and the survey questions can be found in table 3.1, and a copy of the survey can be found in Appendix A.

Table 3.1. Operationalization of the Conceptual Framework

Descriptive Categories	Survey Questions
Professionalism	There is a need to improve the professionalism of the lobbying occupation.
	Carrying yourself in a professional manner aids in your
	success as a lobbyist.
	Lobbyist registration laws in Texas are adequate.
	A nationwide lobbyist registration system would increase
	the professionalism of the lobbying occupation.
	The requirement of formal training or education for all
	lobbyists would improve the professionalism of the
	occupation.
	Formal education or training on lobbying would aid in
	your success as a lobbyist.
	A universal code of professional conduct for lobbyists
	would improve the professionalism of the lobbying
	occupation.
	From your experience, most lobbyists carry out their job
	in an ethical manner.
	Maintaining personal ethical standards aids your success as a lobbyist.
Trade Practices	Providing gifts or favors for legislators is a widely used trade practice of Texas lobbyists.
	Providing gifts or favors for legislators aids your ability
	to succeed as a Texas lobbyist.
	Making campaign contributions to legislators is a widely
	used trade practice of Texas lobbyists.
	Making campaign contributions to legislators aids your
	ability to succeed as a Texas lobbyist.
	Legislative networking is a trade practice that aids your success as a lobbyist.
	Experienced lobbyists have more access to legislators.
	Lobbyists who previously worked in politics or as
	legislators have more access to members of Congress.

Sample

The 2007 Texas Ethics Commission list of registered lobbyists showed that there were 1780 lobbyists registered with the state. Lobbyists on this list are employed by a vastly diversified group of interests ranging from major corporations such as AT&T to

small organizations such as the Vocational Agriculture Teachers Association of Texas.

The sample used for this study consisted of randomly chosen lobbyists who registered with the Texas Ethics Commission. The Ethics Commission's list of registered lobbyists was used because it contains the contact information of all lobbyists in Texas. Starting at the beginning of the alphabetically organized list, every fifth name on the list was contacted.

In total, attempts were made to contact 140 lobbyists. The majority of those called could not be reached either because they did not answer, the number listed was incorrect, or the number listed was not the best means of contacting the individual. Nineteen lobbyists who were reached over the phone chose not to participate either because they were busy at the time or they did not want to partake in the survey. In total, thirty-five lobbyists chose to participate in the phone survey. Therefore, the response rate was 25%. With such a large population, the sampling size of thirty-five respondents makes it impossible to generalize the results of the questionnaire to the entire population. As a result, this study provides only preliminary insight into the opinions of Texas lobbyists.

Human Subjects Protection

This research project was cleared in writing by the Institutional Review Board of Texas State University-San Marcos and found to be exempt from review prior to conducting any telephone surveys. Protection was given to all telephone survey respondents who chose to participate in this research. At the beginning of every telephone survey, subjects were informed of all their rights as participants, and were given information about the research being performed. None of the respondents was subjected to any foreseeable discomfort or danger. Subjects were also informed that their

participation was entirely voluntary and they could stop participating at any time. All information obtained from the telephone surveys was kept confidential and anonymous.

Chapter Summary

The methodology chapter discussed the research technique of telephone surveys. The chapter identified the advantages of using telephone surveys such as the ability to obtain fast and reliable data. The disadvantages of telephone surveys were also discussed, including the potential for a poor response as well as bias concerns. The operationalization of the conceptual framework is presented in table 3.1. Finally, the chapter described and discussed how the sample used for this study was obtained.

Chapter 4. Results

Chapter Purpose

The purpose of this chapter is to provide the results of the phone survey conducted with thirty-five Texas lobbyists. Descriptive statistics are used to present the data. The results of the survey should help provide some insight in determining whether lobbyists in Texas believe that there is a need to improve the professionalism of their occupation and, if so, what are the best ways of accomplishing this objective. The results should also provide some initial impression of the importance of three trade practices in the success of Texas lobbyists.

Improving Professionalism Questions

The thirty-five lobbyists who partook in the study were asked nine questions concerning various ways of improving the professionalism of lobbying. Overall, 62.9% of the survey respondents agreed that there was a need to improve the professionalism of lobbying. Furthermore, 74.3% of respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that there was a need to improve the professionalism of lobbying. The other 25.7% of respondents disagreed that such a need existed. Of the nine questions asked, two received overwhelmingly similar responses: 100% of all respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that carrying themselves in a professional manner aids their success as a lobbyist. From the available responses to this question, 91.4% of the respondents chose "strongly agree." The only question about improving the professionalism of lobbying to receive a unanimous response concerned whether maintaining personal ethical standards aids the respondent's success as a lobbyist: 100% of participants strongly agreed with the

statement. The overwhelming response of "strongly agree" to both questions follows the arguments made by the literature that honesty, credibility, and trustworthiness are essential to success of lobbyists.

Two questions in the survey dealt with lobbyist registration laws. The first question asked whether respondents felt that the lobbyist registration laws in Texas are adequate. A small majority, 54.3% of the lobbyists, agreed that the current Texas registration laws are adequate. However, 42.6% of respondents either disagreed or strongly disagreed that the currents laws were sufficient. Such close numbers among a small sample size makes it impossible to determine what the results might be if all registered Texas lobbyists were surveyed. A somewhat larger majority, 60% of all sampled lobbyists, disagreed with the need for a nationwide lobbyist registration system. A response like this might indicate that lobbyists feel that lobbying regulations should be handled by each state rather than a nationwide system.

Participants were also asked two questions dealing with whether there was a need for formal training or education for lobbyists. Of the thirty-five lobbyists surveyed, 82.9% either agreed or strongly agreed that a requirement for formal training or education for all lobbyists would improve the professionalism of the occupation. The other 17.1% of those sampled disagreed that such a requirement would improve the professionalism of their occupation. When participants were asked whether having formal training or education on lobbying would aid in their success as a lobbyist, 68.6% agreed or strongly agreed. Such strong support for formal training or education for lobbyists may indicate that there is a need for universities to consider offering academic programs or for states to offer training programs for all registered lobbyists.

The final three questions on improving the professionalism of lobbying dealt with ethics. First, lobbyists were asked whether they felt there was a need for a universal code of conduct in order to improve the professionalism of lobbying. Of the thirty-five respondents, 68.6% either agreed or strongly agreed that there was a need for a universal code of conduct. The other 31.4% either disagreed or strongly disagreed that such a need existed. The second ethical question asked lobbyists whether they felt other lobbyists carry out their job in an ethical manner. A strong majority of 77.1% agreed or strongly agreed that other lobbyists work in an ethical manner. Finally, as stated above, 100% of all respondents strongly agreed that maintaining personal ethical standards aids in their success as a lobbyist. Overall, the results of these three questions indicate that the vast majority of those sampled feel that acting ethically positively influences their ability to succeed as a lobbyist. Furthermore, the lobbyists sampled also believe that the majority of the other lobbyists in Texas carry out their job in an ethical manner.

Table 4.1 provides the frequency of strongly agree or agree answers for each question about improving professionalism as well as the mode response given by participants.

Table 4.1: Texas Lobbyists' Attitude toward Professionalism Issues

Sub-	Questionnaire Item	Percent	Mode Response	
Categories				
Professionalism	There is a need to improve the professionalism of the lobbying occupation.	74.3%	Agree (22)	
Professionalism	Carrying yourself in a professional manner aids in your success as a lobbyist.	100%	Strongly agree (32)	
Registration	Lobbyist registration laws in Texas are adequate.	54.3%	Agree (19)	
Registration	A nationwide lobbyist registration system would increase the professionalism of the lobbying occupation.	40%	Disagree (21)	
Formal Education Programs	The requirement of formal training or education for all lobbyists would improve the professionalism of the occupation.	82.9%	Agree (26)	
Formal Education Programs	Formal education or training on lobbying would aid in your success as a lobbyist.	68.6%	Agree (21)	
Ethical Standards	A universal code of professional conduct for lobbyists would improve the professionalism of the lobbying occupation.	68.6%	Agree (19)	
Ethical Standards	From your experience, most lobbyists carry out their job in an ethical manner.	77.1%	Agree (25)	
Ethical Standards	Maintaining personal ethical standards aids your success as a lobbyist.	100%	Strongly agree (35)	
N=35			(N)	

Trade Practices Questions

The survey respondents were asked seven questions dealing with the importance of three specific trade practices. The first set of questions dealt with the trade practice of providing gifts or favors to legislators. The results show that 74.3% of the respondents disagree or strongly disagree that providing gifts or a favor to legislators is a trade practice that is widely used by Texas lobbyists. Almost a quarter of the respondents, 22.9%, believe that the trade practice of providing gifts or favors to legislators is widely used by Texas lobbyists. The second question dealing asked whether lobbyists felt that providing gifts or favors to legislators aids their ability to succeed as a Texas lobbyist. Of the thirty-five survey participants, 80% either disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement. In fact, only 11.4% of the respondents agreed that this trade practice aids their ability to succeed.

A different response arose when lobbyists were asked two questions about the trade practice of making campaign contributions to legislators. On the question of whether making campaign contributions to legislators was a widely used trade practice of Texas lobbyists, 71.4% agreed that it was. The remaining 28.6% of respondents disagreed with the statement. An equal number-28.6%-disagreed that making campaign contributions to legislators aids their ability to succeed as a lobbyist. However, 60% of those sampled did agree that providing campaign contributions played a part in their ability to succeed as a lobbyist.

Such responses indicate that the trade practice of making campaign contributions to legislators may be far more widely utilized by Texas lobbyists than the practice of providing gifts or favors. These answers correlate well with the literature provided by

Stone (2008) which argues that while there is a crackdown on gifts or favors to legislators by lobbyists, such provisions do not apply to campaign fundraisers. Thus it may be possible that over a larger sample, the answers provided to the four questions given above may remain consistent.

The final three questions asked dealt with legislative networking. The first question asked whether legislative networking is a trade practice that aids in their success as a lobbyist; 100% of the respondents strongly agreed that it did. Respondents differed somewhat when asked whether experienced lobbyists or lobbyists who previously worked in politics had more access to legislators. Regarding whether experienced lobbyists have more access to legislators, 71.4% of those surveyed either agreed or strongly agreed that this statement was correct; the other 28.6% disagreed. On the last question whether lobbyists with previous experience in politics had more access to legislators, 68.6% of the respondents agreed or strongly agreed. The other 31.4% of those sampled either disagreed or strongly disagreed with the statement. The responses to these three questions indicate that Texas lobbyists feel strongly that legislative networking is an important trade practice of a successful lobbyist. Furthermore, a majority of those sampled feel that experienced lobbyists and lobbyists with previous political experience have an advantage when it comes to access to legislators.

Table 5.1 provides the frequency of strongly agree or agree answers for each improving professionalism question as well as the mode response given by participants.

Table 5.1. Texas Lobbyists' Attitude toward the Importance of Certain Trade Practices

Sub- Categories	Questionnaire Items	Percent Agree or Strongly Agree	Mode Response
Gifts or favors	Providing gifts or favors for legislators is a widely used trade practice of Texas lobbyists.	22.9%	Disagree (19)
Gifts or favors	Providing gifts or favors for legislators aids your ability to succeed as a Texas lobbyist.	11.4%	Strongly disagree (23)
Campaign contributions	Making campaign contributions to legislators is a widely used trade practice of Texas lobbyists.	71.4%	Agree (25)
Campaign contributions	Making campaign contributions to legislators aids your ability to succeed as a Texas lobbyist.	60%	Agree (21)
Legislative networking	Legislative networking is a trade practice that aids your success as a lobbyist.	100%	Strongly agree (35)
Legislative networking	Experienced lobbyists have more access to legislators.	71.4%	Agree (20)
Legislative networking	Lobbyists who previously worked in politics or as legislators have more access to members of Congress.	68.6%	Agree (18)
N=35			(N)

The results of this survey provide relevant information concerning the research purpose. The next chapter discusses what conclusions can be drawn from the research and suggestions for future research on this topic.

Chapter 5. Conclusions

Chapter Purpose

This chapter discusses the findings from the research and summarizes the opinions of the Texas lobbyists surveyed. This chapter also offers recommendations for future studies on this research topic.

Summary of Survey Results

The purpose of this research was twofold: First, to determine if there was a need for a greater level of professionalism within Texas lobbying and if so, identify ways of making lobbying more professional. The second purpose was to describe three trade practices utilized by Texas lobbyists and identify the importance of each in aiding the ability of a lobbyist to succeed. The results of the survey indicate that 74.3% of the Texas lobbyists surveyed agreed or strongly agreed that there is a need for a greater level of professionalism within the lobbying occupation. Furthermore, 100% of survey participants agreed or strongly agreed that acting in a professional manner aids their ability to succeed. Such an overwhelming response may indicate that professionalism and credibility are strongly valued qualities among the majority of Texas lobbyists.

Although a solid majority of the lobbyists surveyed felt that there was a need to improve the professionalism in lobbying, respondents differed on what steps should be taken to achieve that goal. The literature indicates that a better registration system for lobbyists would increase the level of professionalism for the occupation. Yet, of the thirty-five Texas lobbyists surveyed, 54.3% agreed that the current Texas lobbyist registration requirements were already adequate. Furthermore, 60% of the survey

respondents disagreed that nationwide registration requirements would aid in increasing the professionalism of lobbying. The responses to these two questions may indicate that lobbyists feel that a state registration system is preferable to a nationwide registration structure.

When asked about formal training or education, 82.9% of the survey respondents agreed or strongly agreed that some form of required formal education or training for lobbyists would help elevate the professionalism of lobbying. In addition, 68.6% either agreed or strongly agreed that the implementation of formal education or training would aid in their ability to succeed as a lobbyist. These results indicate that the Texas lobbyists surveyed see the value in requiring individuals to complete some form of professional training or university-level education before being allowed to lobby. However, while many universities offer classes on public affairs or lobbying, the researcher was not able to find any university that offers a program that focuses solely on lobbying. A possible solution may be faster than the creation of university-level academic programs is the implementation of continuing education courses or seminars created by the state to help train lobbyists.

The value placed on personal ethical standards by the thirty-five Texas lobbyists surveyed was overwhelming: 100% of respondents strongly agreed that maintaining personal ethical standards aided their ability to succeed as a lobbyist. Of all the questions asked this was one of only two that elicited complete agreement among the lobbyists. Furthermore, 77.1% of the participants agreed or strongly agreed that, based upon their experience, most lobbyists carry out their job functions in an ethical manner.

An interesting part of the survey results is the response to the question of whether there is a need for a universal code of conduct for lobbyists in order to increase the professionalism of lobbying: 68.6% of the respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that a universal professional code of conduct would increase the professionalism of lobbying. However, this percentage is far lower than the 100% of lobbyists sampled who strongly agreed that personal ethical standards aided their ability to succeed as a lobbyist. What these results may indicate is that lobbyists feel maintaining a personal set of ethical standards negates the need for a universal professional code of conduct.

After being asked about the need to improve the professionalism of lobbying, the participants were asked their opinion on seven questions dealing with the importance of three trade practices: providing legislators with gifts or favors, making campaign contributions to legislators, and legislative networking. Concerning the trade practice of providing legislators gifts or favors, participants were asked two questions. They were asked if they felt the particular trade practice was widely used by Texas lobbyists, and whether they felt the use of that trade practice aided their ability to succeed as a lobbyist. In regard to legislative networking, respondents were first asked if this practice aided their ability to succeed as a lobbyist. They were also asked two questions concerning whether certain lobbyists had more access to legislators.

Of the thirty-five Texas lobbyists surveyed, 68.6% either disagreed or strongly disagreed that the trade practice of providing legislators with gifts or favors was widely used by Texas lobbyists. Furthermore, 80% of the Texas lobbyists surveyed also disagreed or strongly disagreed that the use of this trade practice aided their ability to succeed as a lobbyist. These results correlate well with findings in the literature that

indicate most lobbyists do not provide gifts or favors to legislators. The responses may also reflect an awareness of new laws, such as the Honest Leadership and Open Government Act mentioned by Stone (2008, 12), that are designed to severely limit the gifts or favors that lobbyists can give to legislators.

The results for the two questions dealing with the trade practice of making campaign contributions to legislators differed greatly from the response to the question about gifts or favors. A strong majority, 71.4% of the Texas lobbyists questioned, agreed that the trade practice of making legislative campaign contributions is widely used among Texas lobbyists. In addition, 60% of the respondents agreed that making campaign contributions to members of Congress is a trade practice that aids their ability to succeed as a lobbyist. The results may indicate that the literature is correct in arguing that lobbyists today are more likely to be pressured into making campaign contributions to legislators by the organizations they represent because of the recent campaign finance laws. As stated before, these responses also correlate with Stone's (2008) argument that the laws passed to crack down on gifts or favors by lobbyists to legislators have led to the unexpected result of lobbyists turning more to campaign contributions.

Of the three trade practices studied, legislative networking was the only one in which 100% of the respondents strongly agreed that this practice aided their ability to succeed as a lobbyist. These results are not surprising as the majority of the literature indicated that the success of a lobbyist in influencing policy development rests heavily on their ability to access legislators. What was of interest in the responses to the final two questions on legislative networking was the finding that lobbyists believe that more experienced lobbyists and lobbyists with previous political careers have more access to

legislators. A majority, 71.4% of respondents, agreed or strongly agreed that experienced lobbyists have more access to legislators. A possible explanation for these results is that legislators who have worked with lobbyists in the past might be more willing to give them access than a lobbyist they have never had a working relationship with. The same reason may explain why 68.6% of respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that lobbyists who had previous experience in politics or were former legislators have more access to members of Congress. Therefore, these results may indicate that name recognition might play an important part in determining how much access a lobbyist has to legislators.

It is important to note that a flaw exists in the structure of the survey when it comes to the trade practice of legislative networking. The researcher failed to ask survey respondents whether legislative networking is a widely used trade practice of Texas lobbyists. This question was asked about the other two trade practices (gifts or favors and campaign contributions), but was mistakenly omitted for legislative networking. However, given the 100% "strongly agree" response to the question of whether the practice of legislative networking aids in one's success as a lobbyist, it may be inferred that legislative networking is a widely used trade practice among Texas lobbyists.

Suggestions for Future Research

As noted earlier, the results of this study provide only preliminary insight into the opinions of lobbyists concerning important topics such as professionalism and trade practices. In order for future research to make reasonable assumptions about Texas lobbyists as a population, a much larger sample size would be necessary. In addition, future researchers may consider incorporating questions concerning the type of

organizations a lobbyist works for, and possibly the gender of the lobbyist, in order to determine if survey responses vary among different groups of lobbyists. Future researchers may also consider studying other trade practices of lobbyists, or expanding the study of campaign contributions by tracking whether this method of influence has any impact on voting patterns.

A final suggestion for future research would be to ask similar survey questions of members of Congress or their staff. Their responses would indicate whether legislators and lobbyists think differently when it comes to the need to improve the professionalism of lobbying, as well as which trade practices legislators feel are more widely used among Texas lobbyists.

Reproducing this study on a larger scale could easily be accomplished. A longer time period for the study would allow for more participants, which would provide greater insight into the opinions of Texas lobbyists concerning their occupation.

Conclusion

The occupation of lobbying plays an important part in the policy development of the local, state, and federal governments. The work done by lobbyists to pass or defeat legislation affects all agencies that employ public administrators. Furthermore, many public administrators have gone on to find successful careers in the field of lobbying. It is for those reasons that this research into the field of lobbying can provide useful insight for administrators who seek to better understand the outside influences that affect the agencies for which they work.

Beyond the benefits this research provides to administrators, this study was also conducted as a beginning step toward better understanding and humanizing an occupation

that currently suffers from a negative perception in the eyes of many. Corrupt lobbyists exist just as dishonest lawyers, doctors, and accountants exist. However, through efforts to professionalize the occupation of lobbying and by debunking the negative stereotypes associated with the occupation, it may be possible to understand the value of lobbyists in the democratic process. Further research on understanding the attitudes, opinions, and workings of lobbyists can only help in improving the public perception of this occupation.

References

- Aleman, M. A. 2004. City of Austin ethics program: A case study. Applied Research Project, Texas State University. Available online at http://ecommons.txstate.edu/arp/24
- Ainsworth, S. and I. Sened. 1993. The role of lobbyists: Entrepreneurs with two audiences. *American Journal of Political Science* 37(3): 834-866.
- Berry, S. 1993. The rise of the professional lobbyist: A cause for concern? *The Political Quarterly* (64): 344-351.
- Birnbaum, J. H. 2006. Washington's once and future lobby. *The Washington Post*, September 10, B01.
- Bobo, J. 2006. The importance of lobbyists. *National Underwriter*, May 8, 34.
- Browne, W. P. 1985. Variations in the behavior and style of state lobbyists and interest groups. *The Journal of Politics* 47(June):450-468.
- Conklin, K. A. 1999. Community college telephone survey research: An overview of methodology and utility. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice* 23(4): 423-433.
- Cray, C.. 2006. Combating the culture of corruption. Or not. *Multinational Monitor*, May/June, 10-14.
- Cruess, S. R. and R. L. Cruess. 1997. Professionalism must be taught. *British Medical Journal* 315(7123): 1674-1677.
- Eivens, C. R. 2000. Municipal government code of ethics: A content analysis. Applied Research Project, Texas State University. Available online at http://ecommons.txstate.edu/arp/80
- Este, Stephen. 2007. The challenges of accountability in the human services:

 Performance management in the adult protective services program of Texas.

 Applied Research Project, Texas State University. Available online at http://ecommons.txstate.edu/arp/250
- Gardner, H. and L. S. Shulman. 2005. The professions in America today: crucial but fragile. *Daedalus* 134(3): 13-18.

- Glazer, Sarah. 1989. Getting a grip on influence peddling. *CQ Researcher* December 15, 17. http://library.cqpress.com.libproxy.txstate.edu/cqresearcher/documentphp?id=cqresrre19.
- Hamilton III, B. J. and D. Hoch. 1997. Ethical standards for business lobbying: Some practical suggestions. *Business Ethics Quarterly* 7(3): 117-129.
- Hunter, K.; L. A. Wilson; and G.G. Brunk. 1991. Societal complexity and Interest-Group Lobbying in the American States. *The Journal of Politics* 53(2): 488-503.
- Judd, R. 2003. Eye on lobbying. *Spectrum: The Journal of State Government* 76(1): 38-39.
- Katel, P. 2005. Should the influence industry be regulated more closely? *CQ***Researcher July 22, 32.

 http://library.cqpress.com/libproxy.txstate.edu/cqresearcher/document.php?is=cqre

 srre200
- McGrath, C. 2005. Towards a lobbying profession: Developing the industry's reputation, education and representation. *The Journal of Public Affairs* 5: 124-135.
- McGrath, C. 2006. The ideal lobbyist: Personal characteristics of effective lobbyists. *Journal of Communication Management* 10(2): 67-79.
- Nownes, A. J. and P. Freeman. 1998. Interest group activity in the states. *The Journal of Politics* 60(1): 86-112.
- Nownes, A. J. 1999. Solicited advice and lobbyist power: evidence from three American states. *Legislative Studies Quarterly* 24(1): 113-123.
- Nownes, Anthony J. 2006. *Total lobbying: what lobbyists want (and how they try to get it)*. Cambridge: New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Salisbury, R. H.; P. Johnson; J. P. Heinz.; E. O. Laumann.; and R. L. Nelson, 1989. Who you know versus what you know: The uses of government experience for Washington lobbyists. *American Journal of Political Science* 33(1): 175-195.
- Shields, P. M. 1998. Pragmatism as philosophy of science: A tool for public administration. *Research in Public Administration* 4:195-225. Available online at http://ecommons.txstate.edu/polsfacp/33/

- Shields, P. and H. Tajalli 2006. Intermediate theory: The missing link in successful student scholarship. *Journal of Public Affairs Education* 12 (3): 313-334. Available online at http://ecommons.txstate.edu/polsfacp/39/
- Stone, P. H.; B. Vaida; J. Kosterlitz; and E. N. Carney. 2008. Good times, bad times. *National Journal* 40(12):12.
- Texas Ethics Commission. 2007. 2007 List of registered lobbyists. Available online at http://www.ethics.state.tx.us/dfs/loblists.htm
- Thornton, W. 2000. A descriptive and exploratory study of the ethics program at Austin state hospital: The common elements of the program and managers' beliefs about the purpose and usefulness of the program. Applied Research Project, Texas State University. Available online at http://ecommons.txstate.edu/arp/123
- Wegner, M. 2004. Spending on lobbyists jumped to record heights in 2005. Congress Daily, February 13, 4.
- Woodard, G. L. 2005. The relationship between campaign contributions and record votes in the Texas legislature. Applied Research Project, Texas State University. Available online at http://ecommons.txstate.edu/arp/9

Appendix A. Survey

Improving Professionalism

1. There is a need to	improve th	e professionalis	sm of the l	obbying occupation.	
Strongly Disagree	Disagree (9)	No Opinion	Agree (22)	Strongly Agree (4)	
2. Carrying yoursel	f in a profess	sional manner a	aids in yo	ur success as a lobbyist.	
Strongly Disagree	Disagree	No Opinion	Agree (3)	Strongly Agree (32)	
3. Lobbyist registra	tion laws in	Texas are adeq	uate.		
Strongly Disagree(4)	Disagree (11)	No Opinion (1)	Agree (19)	Strongly Agree	
4. A nationwide lob the lobbying occupa	•	ation system wo	ould incre	ase the professionalism	of
Strongly Disagree	Disagree (21)	No Opinion	Agree (10)	Strongly Agree (4)	
5. The requirement the professionalism		_	ation for a	ll lobbyists would impro	ve
Strongly Disagree	Disagree (6)	No Opinion	Agree (26)	Strongly Agree (3)	
6. Formal education	or training	on lobbying we	ould aid i	n your success as a lobby	yist.
Strongly Disagree	Disagree (11)	No Opinion	Agree (21)	Strongly Agree (3)	
7. A universal code professionalism of t			lobbyists	would improve the	
Strongly Disagree(5)	Disagree (6)	No Opinion	Agree (19)	Strongly Agree (5)	
8. From your exper	ience, most l	obbyists carry	out their	job in an ethical manner	·.
Strongly Disagree	Disagree (4)	No Opinion (4)	Agree (25)	Strongly Agree (2)	

9. Maintaining personal ethical standards aids your success as a lobbyist.				
Strongly Disagree	Disagree	No Opinion	Agree	Strongly Agree (35)
Trade Practices				(55)
10. Providing gifts of lobbyists.	or favors for	legislators is a	widely us	ed trade practice of Texas
Strongly Disagree (5)	Disagree (19)	No Opinion (3)	Agree (8)	Strongly Agree
11. Providing gifts of lobbyist.	or favors for	legislators aids	s your abi	lity to succeed as a Texas
Strongly Disagree (23)	Disagree (5)	No Opinion (3)	Agree (4)	Strongly Agree
12. Making campais Texas lobbyists.	gn contribut	ions to legislate	ors is a wi	dely used trade practice of
Strongly Disagree	Disagree (10)	No Opinion	Agree (25)	Strongly Agree
13. Making campaign contributions to legislators aids your ability to succeed as a Texas lobbyist.				
Strongly Disagree	Disagree (11)	-	Agree (21)	Strongly Agree
14. Legislative netw	orking is a t	rade practice t	hat aids y	our success as a lobbyist.
Strongly Disagree	Disagree	No Opinion	Agree	Strongly Agree (35)
15. Experienced lob	byists have	more access to	legislators	S.
Strongly Disagree	Disagree (10)	No Opinion	Agree (20)	Strongly Agree (5)
16. Lobbyists who previously worked in politics or as legislators have more access to members of Congress.				
Strongly Disagree (4)	Disagree (7)	No Opinion	Agree (18)	Strongly Agree (6)